
200 E. Wells Street

Milwaukee, Wisconsin 

53202

City of Milwaukee

Meeting Minutes

HOUSING TRUST FUND ADVISORY 

BOARD TECHNICAL REVIEW 

SUBCOMMITTEE

9:00 AM Room 301-B, City HallFriday, January 30, 2009

Meeting convened: 9:10 A.M.

Roll Call1.

Kammholz, Sanchez, Madden, Gore and PetersPresent 5 - 

Also Present: Steven Mahan Director, and Mario Higgins, Community Blocks Grant 

Admin. and Eric Pearson, Dept. of Admin., Budget and Management Division

Approval of the minutes of the January 22, 2009 meeting2.

Mr. Peters asked that the word universal be removed from his comment on page five.  

There were no ojbections.  

Ms. Sanchez moved approval of the minutes as amended, Ms. Gore seconded. 

There were no objections.

Page 1City of Milwaukee



January 30, 2009HOUSING TRUST FUND ADVISORY 

BOARD TECHNICAL REVIEW 

SUBCOMMITTEE

Meeting Minutes

Discussion on the housing trust fund applications and the crafting of 

recommendations

3.

Mr. Kammholz directed the Subcommittee members to the revised scoring sheet 

document that shows the list of proposed applicants and the objective scores that the 

City staff has computed that was e-mailed to members prior to this meeting (Exhibit 

1).

Mr. Kammholz said that once the scores are completed the subcommittee members 

will craft the recommendations and those recommendations will be heard this 

afternoon by the full Housing Trust Fund Advisory Board. 

Mr. Kammholz said at the January 22, 2009 Technical Review Subcommittee 

meeting there were questions on several of the "Rental" category projects relating to 

confirmation of the applicants tax credits and or on the applicants financing.  He said 

those questions have all been answer and City staff made its decisions based on 

those answers.

Mr. Kammholz asked Mr. Mahan to go over each of the projects that were 

recommended at the January 22, 2009, Technical Review Subcommittee meeting.

Mr. Mahan replied that the United Community Center (UCC) is not a tax credit project 

and they have already started phase one of their project.

Mr. Kammholz said that at the last meeting there were questions relating to UCC's 

financial gap and asked Mr. Mahan if UCC has a financial gab and also if UCC has 

already broken ground?  

Mr. Mahan replied that UCC has four financial donations and in his review of UCC 

application it financial gap has been filled. He said the UCC has not broken ground 

yet. 

Mr. Kammholz said that Intercession and Community Advocates does not have their 

tax credits.  

Mr. Mahan said that none of the applicants have received its tax credits let, they have 

all applied and WHEDA’s due date for the tax credit application is February 15, 2009.

Mr. Mahan said that Community Advocates had re-done its proposal. The change 

was because they have applied for NSP funds. 

Ms. Sanchez said she would feel more comfortable if they could consider a second 

round of housing trust fund awards in May of June of this year. She asked if this 

subcommittee could make a recommendation to the full board to have a second 

round this year? 

Mr. Kammholz replied that May or June may be a bit too soon, but possible June or 

July could work.  He said that is an excellent idea.

Mr. Mahan replied that that is a good idea and said that maybe the economy will 

change by then. 

Mr. Kammholz said that the five projects in the “Rental” category that City staff is 

Page 2City of Milwaukee



January 30, 2009HOUSING TRUST FUND ADVISORY 

BOARD TECHNICAL REVIEW 

SUBCOMMITTEE

Meeting Minutes

recommending still needs their tax credit award information.

Mr. Mahan said that Gorman & Company, Silver Spring project is off the table at this 

time, because it didn't get its tax credits.

Mr. Mahan said the MLK received a letter that its tax credits have been syndicated. 

Mr. Mahan said that documents have been received from William Passavant that 

they have received its tax credits and it has been syndicated at .72 cents on the 

dollar.

Mr. Mahan said that Lisbon Terrace LLC received their tax credits and it syndicated 

at .74 cents on the dollars.

Mr. Higgins said he received a letter from Bishop Creek that they have received their 

tax credit.

Mr. Kammholz said that Bishop Creek will need tax credits at .92 cents on the dollar 

to fill its financial gap. 

Mr. Mahan said the Gorman & Company, Metcalfe project is not being 

recommended. 

Mr. Higgins said that Star United left him a voice message that they had to return 

their tax credits. 

Mr. Kammholz said that all the projects are good projects, and the return of tax 

credits should not eliminate an applicant from being considered.

Ms. Sanchez said when working to create the trust fund, it was stated that the 

applicant would need to be able to fill its financial gap and show local support.

Mr. Kammholz said that one of the reasons the 2008 funding guidelines were 

changed was due to the economy.

Mr. Kammholz said that subjective scoring will need to be done for UCC in the 

“Homelessness” category;  MLK, William Passavant-Rehab, Lisbon Terrace, William 

Passavant-New Construction and Bishop Creek in the “Rental” category and all the 

projects in the “Homeownership" category, except for ACTS.

Ms. Sanchez asked why not ACTS?

Mr. Kammholz replied that ACTS did not submit its financial documents. 

 

Mr. Mahan replied that the concerns that City staff had on the ACTS request was that 

it is for a revolving loan and that a mechanism would be need to be created to recycle 

the funds back into the housing trust fund.

Mr. Kammholz asked if one of the application requirements is that the applicant 

needs to submit at least three years of financial audit statements or at least the most 

current financial data?

 Mr. Mahan replied that ACTS is a concept and doesn't operate that way currently. 

He said the concept is good if it could be substantiate that ACTS could run it.  He 

also said a revolving loan fund wasn’t the intent of the housing trust funds.

Page 3City of Milwaukee



January 30, 2009HOUSING TRUST FUND ADVISORY 

BOARD TECHNICAL REVIEW 

SUBCOMMITTEE

Meeting Minutes

Mr. Kammholz asked Mr. Mahan if he received any financial data from ACTS, 

because in his application packet there weren’t any. 

Mr. Mahan replied in the negative. 

Mr. Kammholz said that the committee will take a short recess so those members 

who have scores can give them to Mr. Higgins and he can enter and calculate them. 

Recess: 9:52 A.M.

Reconvened: 10:45 A.M. 

Mr. Kammholz asked Mr. Higgins to begin by giving the committee the total combined 

objective and subjective scores for the projects in the “Rental” Category. 

Mr. Kammholz said that according to Mr. Higgins calculations, in the “Rental” 

category, Bishop Creek and MLK have the highest scores.

Mr. Kammholz asked if the members are comfortable with recommending partial 

funding for the following in the “Rental” category: Bishop Creek at $250,000 and MLK 

at $100,000.

Ms. Gore said she is comfortable with those recommendations, because of the 

limited funds available under that category. 

Ms. Gore said that since there is $522,550 available under the “Rental” category 

could the subcommittee consider recommending one more of the projects in the 

“Rental” category or move some of the remaining funds from the “Rental” category to 

say the “Homeownership”? 

Mr. Kammholz replied in the affirmative. He said the funding percentages in each 

category are only policy guidelines.  

Mr. Peters said the Passavant application says it has accessibility information 

attached to the application but he didn’t find any.  

Mr. Mahan replied that since Passavant is a RCAC and it would be regulated by HUD 

for accessibility requirements.

Mr. Kammholz handed out a financial summary (Exhibit 2).  He gave a brief review of 

MLK and both the Passavant projects finances.

Mr. Mahan said Passavant project is reusing a hospital building.  

Mr. Kammholz said that there are $1.4 million of housing trust funds available and 

asked member to use some restrain, because if all the money available is used now 

there will only be $400,000 available for the third round of funding that will take place 

this summer.  

Mr. Kammholz moved onto the "Homeownership" category. He said there are five 

really strong projects under the “Homeownership” category. Those are Layton Blvd., 

both of the Milwaukee Community Services Corps. (Rehab and Energy Improvement) 

and both of the Milwaukee Habitatat for Humanity projects (Rehab and new 

construction). 

Page 4City of Milwaukee



January 30, 2009HOUSING TRUST FUND ADVISORY 

BOARD TECHNICAL REVIEW 

SUBCOMMITTEE

Meeting Minutes

Ms. Sanchez said that her scores for Rebuilding Together are significantly different 

than what has been given by other subcommittee members. She said that Rebuilding 

Together has a lot of accessibility improvement experience and they pay good family 

wages.

Mr. Peters said he put N/A as his score for Rebuilding Together accessibility 

improvements, because there aren’t any accessibility requirements for rehab 

projects.   

Ms. Madden said she gave Rebuilding Together one point for accessibility for the 

same reason Mr. Peters stated. She said gave them an N/A for family wages, 

because they have a large volunteer base. 

Ms. Sanchez said that they should not be looking at the scores exclusively, because 

if something is not applicable for a project it should not be given a zero, there should 

be some way to compensating for not applicable items in the scoring measure.  

Mr. Kammholz said that if the strength of this project isn't come through in the way it 

was scored, than maybe something is missing. He said he is open for suggestions on 

how better to determine a project's strength. 

Ms. Madden said that she doesn’t know any of the organizations that are submitted 

applications the way some of the other subcommittee members do and she can only 

rely on the facts stated in the application. She feels that some latitude could be given 

on points for certain circumstances. 

Ms. Sanchez said the information on the family supporting wages is stated in 

Rebuilding Together’s application. It says $30 to $80 per hour depending on the 

complexity of the project and that is clearly more than the $8.64 family wage 

requirement. 

Mr. Mahan said that none of the projects in the “Homeownership” category are ready 

to go yet.  He said that as far as an administrative standpoint all the projects are 

fundable and fine.  He said the scope of the projects is not definite until the 

organization put out its bids. 

Mr. Kammholz said what they are doing now is to accept or modify the scores that 

have been given.  He said in the end he wants an agreed upon set of scores.

Ms. Gore said all of the “Homeownership” category projects are good and strong and 

do able.  She asked if there could be consideration given to how many requests are 

made per organization and limit approval to just one request per organization?

Mr. Kammholz replied in the affirmative. He said that is the way it was done in the first 

round of funding.  

Mr. Kammholz said that under the “Homeownership” category they should consider 

all the projects except for Acts.  

Ms. Gore recommended that all the projects in the "Homeownership" to be 

recommended for an award, except for those organizations that submitted more than 

one application in that category; those organizations should receive just one award 

for one of its request and that should be determined by which project is the strongest.

Mr. Kammholz replied that under the “Homeownership” category there are multiple 

Page 5City of Milwaukee



January 30, 2009HOUSING TRUST FUND ADVISORY 

BOARD TECHNICAL REVIEW 

SUBCOMMITTEE

Meeting Minutes

requests by several organizations. There are two from Milwaukee Community 

Services Corps. (MCSC), three from Milwaukee Christian Center (MCC) and two 

from Milwaukee Habitatat for Humanity. 

Ms. Madden said she likes Ms. Gore's approach.  

Mr. Kammholz said the MCSC rehab score is higher than its Energy Improvement 

project. 

Ms. Sanchez said she likes the MCSC Energy Improvement project over the rehab 

request.  

Mr. Kammholz said the subcommittee will move forward with the Energy 

Improvement project for MCSC and put aside the rehab project.  

Mr. Mahan said that most of the “Homeownership" projects have received other City 

funding in 2008 and they haven't spent those 2008 funds yet.  He said if those 

projects are award housing trust funds, those funds would just sit, because the HTF 

is to be use as the last dollars that would into the project. He asked that the 

subcommittee set some kind of time line that the housing trust funds would need to 

be use by.

Ms. Sanchez said she would be comfortable with putting a timeline when the housing 

trust funds need to be use by.  

Ms. Gore said she likes the MCC Youth Build project. 

Mr. Mahan replied that City staff recommends, the MCC NIP project, because the 

Youth Build project already received other funds for 2009. 

Mr. Peters said that he would prefer MCC rehab project over the new construction, 

therefore, he would also recommends the MCC NIP project. 

Mr. Kammholz said that the Habitatat New Construction project rated higher than the 

Habitatat Rehab project. 

Mr. Higgins replied that Habitatat does a good job in what ever they do, whether its 

new construction or rehab.

Ms. Madden said she feels that there is a critical need for rehab over new 

construction in the City.  

Mr. Kammholz said the consensus is that the Habitatat’s rehab project will be 

considered over its new construction project.   

Mr. Kammholz said that the remaining three projects are: Layton Blvd. West, 

Rebuilding Together and the Dominican Center.

Ms. Gore recommended that all three of those be funded.

Ms. Madden suggested that they consider partial funding awards for the projects in 

the “Homeownership” projects.  

Ms. Sanchez said that there is also 15% of housing trust funds that was put aside to 

be use at the digression of the Board. 

Page 6City of Milwaukee



January 30, 2009HOUSING TRUST FUND ADVISORY 

BOARD TECHNICAL REVIEW 

SUBCOMMITTEE

Meeting Minutes

Ms. Sanchez moved and Ms. Gore seconded to approve all the projects in the 

“Homeownership” category at the requested amounts.  

Ms. Madden said she has concerns with that motion, because it is a vast chunk of the 

housing trust funds, which doesn’t have funds being added into it, and it would be a 

lot of projects to manage. 

Mr. Kammholz said that he has concerns with putting too much of the housing trust 

funds out there at one time.

 

Mr. Mahan said he is on the review team for the City’s 2010 budget and he doesn't 

think there is going to be city funds for the housing trust fund in 2010.

Mr. Mahan said most of the applicants are not going to spend these housing trust 

fund allocations, because these groups are currently being funded by other sources 

and they haven't spent those funds yet. 

Mr. Mahan said that the members should keep in mind that the projects will have to 

follow city code, pull permits and be code compliant.

Mr. Mahan said that Rebuilding Together has never received any type of funding by 

City.

Ms. Gore said they need to allow new groups to come in and be funded.

Ms. Sanchez said that Rebuilding Together and the Dominican Center should be 

recommended at their requested amounts and that it is made clear to those 

applicants the city expectation regarding the code compliance requirements.

Mr. Kammholz said that there is a motion on the floor and he is going to vote no on 

the Rebuilding Together and the Dominican Center project recommendations. 

A motion was made by Ms. Sanchez and seconded by Ms. Gore to approve Layton 

Blvd. West Neighbors at $14,000, Milwaukee Community Services Corp. at $33,200, 

Rebuilding Together Greater Milwaukee at $75,000, Milwaukee Habitatat at 

$100,000, Milwaukee Christian Center $126,000 and Dominican Center for Women, 

Inc. at $147,000 in the Homeownership category (Total $495,570). There were three 

ayes and one no. Mr. Kammholz voted no, Ms. Madden excused.

A motion was made by Ms. Gore and Ms. Sanchez to approve United Community 

Center at $75,000 in the Homelessness Category. There were no objections.  

A motion was made by Ms. Gore and seconded by Ms. Sanchez to approve the MLK 

Econ. Dev. Corp. at $100,000 and Bishop Creek at $250,000 in the Rental Category. 

There were no objections. 

Total project awards: $920,570.

Next meeting date, time and agenda4.

No future meeting date was set.

Page 7City of Milwaukee



January 30, 2009HOUSING TRUST FUND ADVISORY 

BOARD TECHNICAL REVIEW 

SUBCOMMITTEE

Meeting Minutes

Meeting adjourned: 12:04 P.M.

Terry J. MacDonald

Staff Assistant

Page 8City of Milwaukee








